
Company Number: 06280431 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Sorbic International Plc 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Highlights of the Year 1 Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 16 

Directors, Secretary and Advisers 2 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 17 

Chairman’s Statement 3 Company Statement of Changes in Equity 18 

Board of Directors 5 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 19 

Strategic Report  6
X 

Company Statement of Financial Position 21 

Directors’ Report 10 Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 23 

Directors’ Remuneration Report 12 Company Cash Flow Statement 24 

Independent Auditors’ Report 14 Notes to the Financial Statements 25 

    



 
Sorbic International Plc Annual Report 2014 

 

1 

 
  

 

Highlights of the Year 
for the year ended 30 September 2014 

 

 
 
 

SUMMARY 
 

● Revenue for the year of £14.1million (2013: £14.6million) 

● Gross profit margin for the year of 9.8% (2013: 12.9%) 

● EBITDA of £0.6 million (2013: £1.2 million) 

● Profit from operations before impairment of £0.1 million (2013: £0.6 million) 

● Loss before tax of £0.4 million (2013: £6.1 million) after impairment provision (2014: 
Nil, 2013: £6.7 million) in respect of Inner Mongolia facility  

● Cash generative and cash balances at 30 September 2014 of £6.9million (2013: 
£5.3million) 

● Net assets per share of £0.18 (2013: £0.21) 
 
John McLean, Non-Executive Chairman of Sorbic International, commented:  “The 
Board is pleased that the Group continues to be cash generative.  Demand for the 
Group’s products remains strong and the Board remains focused in bringing the 
Group’s operations back to a normal state of activity in 2015. 
 
“Additionally the Board is also pleased to announce the appointment of Jay Newman 
as a non-executive director, alongside the appointment of an additional director which 
will take place in due course.  The strengthened Board will contribute further to the 
significant progress that has been made during the year to facilitate the repayment of 
outstanding loan note and cash transfers from China.” 

 

www.sorbicinternational.com 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.sorbicinternational.com/
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Chairman’s Statement 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The Board reports that the Group’s operating subsidiary, 
Linyi Van Science and Technique Co., Ltd (“LVST”) 
revenues for the year ended 30 September 2014 were 
£14.1 million, which was slightly down on the prior year 
(2013: £14.6 million), which is mainly due to foreign 
exchange.  During the second half of the year, LVST has 
witnessed increased fluctuations on the selling price of 
potassium sorbate.  This has impacted on the LVST’s 
overall operating margin for the full year, which was 9.8% 
(2013: 12.9%), as well as, a reduction in the Group’s 
EBITDA to £0.6 million compared to £1.2 million for 2013. 
 
Revenues continue to be dominated by exports to the US 
(via the APAC Chemical Corporation) and Chinese domestic 
business, which together, account for approximately 91% 
(2013: 92%) of overall activity.  Overall sales mix has 
remained practically constant at 50% each for the respective 
products. 
 
Margins for Sorbic Acid have softened to 4% for 2014 from 
5% in 2013, whilst for Potassium Sorbate the margins have 
reduced to 15% from 20% in 2013.  For both products, 
selling prices were stronger at the beginning of the year and 
started to soften for the remainder of the year.  Cost of sales 
increases have now started to decline which the Board 
expects to help in the recovery of gross margins. 
 
The improvement in the cash balance at the year-end 
reflects the positive cash flow from the operating subsidiary 
in China, combined with a lower inventory level.  The 
increase in the accruals and other payables results from the 
re-classification of the amount due to Inner Mongolia for the 
purchase of land, which was previously included as part of 
Mr Wang’s loan balance. 
 
UK and Singapore overheads have shown a slight year-on-
year decline and are running at £220,000 per annum. 
 
Overall, the Group has generated an operating profit of 
£100,000 compared to £600,000 for the previous year.  In 
addition, loan stock interest, which was previously 
capitalised as part of the Inner Mongolian development, has 
now been expensed. 

 
INNER MONGOLIA  
 
As previously reported, a framework to determine the 
amount of compensation has been agreed and within that 
framework, preliminary indicative figures would indicate that 
the compensation could be sufficient to cover the current 
carrying costs (£2.5 million).  Currently, the negotiations are 
on hold whilst the land audit takes place, and once this is 
concluded, it is expected that negotiations will restart. 
 
In my interim results statement on 23 June 2014, I indicated 
that the balance sheet had previously stated that that the 
funding for the land purchases had been provided by the 
Company’s CEO, Mr Wang Yan Ting (“Mr Wang”).  This has 
proven not to be the case as the funding was provided by 
either loans or grants from the local industrial zone.  As the 
documentation for the loans/grants from the local authorities 
is minimal, the Board has adopted a prudent approach in 
assuming the entire purchase was loan funded.  Accordingly, 
the accounts have been reclassified to reflect the change in 

liability which has no effect on the reported net assets.  Thus, 
a key task for the coming year is to bring the controls into 
line with current best practice among Chinese companies as 
part of our work to improve corporate governance. 
 

LINYI 
 
In respect of the proposed move to a new site within Linyi, 
an agreement has largely been reached with the new land 
identified and the relocation package outline agreed, with 
the Linyi authorities covering the cost of a new building and 
infrastructure as well as reimbursing expenses for moving.  
It is not expected that there will be any direct cash 
compensation, merely a substitution of an old plant for a 
new one.  In respect of the equipment, it is expected that 
this will be a combination of new plant, the existing plant 
and the equipment purchased for Inner Mongolia.  Timing 
for the conclusion of the negotiations and the start of 
building is expected to be in the first half of 2015. 
 

LOAN NOTES 
 
As announced in August 2014, the outstanding loan stock 
of £3.6 million (including accrued interest and redemption 
premium) was rolled over until 31 December 2014 to allow 
sufficient time for the loan to be repaid.  Currently, the loan 
notes remain outstanding and are therefore in default.  The 
Company is in discussions with a number of the loan-note 
holders and has recently visited China to expedite the 
redemption of the outstanding loan stock.  Discussions 
have taken place with Mr Wang and the Company’s 
advisors and a plan has been agreed to take the necessary 
action to redeem the outstanding loan stock.  LVST, the 
Group’s Chinese subsidiary had approximately £6.9 million 
in the bank at the year-end (£7.2 million as of 30 November 
2014).  The timing of the process is uncertain, however, the 
Board anticipates that the necessary actions will be put in 
place within the next few months. 
 
As I reported in the trading update last month, Mr Wang 
agreed in the October Board meeting for LVST’s funds to 
be transferred and again at the Board meeting on 7 
December 2014, he confirmed this statement.  To ensure 
that the repayment happens on a timely basis, the Board 
have appointed eCFO, which is a business consultancy, 
based in China with over 20 years’ experience of dealing 
with such issues, both to advise and to implement the 
Board’s funds repatriation policy. 

 
BOARD CHANGES 
 
As I mentioned in the interim statement, the Board was 
going to take steps to appoint two China experienced 
bilingual directors and as part of this process, I am pleased 
to report that Jay Newman has been appointed as a non-
executive director.  Jay has over 20 years experience of 
working in China and specifically, he has been working with 
me over the last 18 months as the Loan Notes observer.  I 
welcome his appointment.  In respect of the appointment of 
the second director, the Board has agreed to appoint a 
particular candidate subject to certain due diligence.  It is 
expected that in addition to these two appointments, the 
Board will be further strengthened. 
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CASH 
 
As shareholders have been aware and in order to fund the 
Singapore office and the UK listing costs, cash has been 
raised during the year to fund the non-China costs: 
obviously with a net cash position of approximately of £4 
million, the raising of additional cash is unsatisfactory and 
therefore as part of eCFO’s involvement they will be 
reviewing the necessary processes required to fund 
overseas expenditure. 

 
GOING CONCERN 
 
Whether the Group will have sufficient resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future will 
ultimately be dependent on the repayment of the 
outstanding loan notes and the successful initiation of the 
funds transfer out of China.  On an ongoing basis, the 

Company will remain reliant on a regular transfer of funds 
out of China to meet the costs of running an AIM listed 
public company and to repay the outstanding convertible 
loan notes.   
 

OUTLOOK  
 
Demand for the Group’s products remains strong, but the 
hurdles of cash transfers, Inner Mongolian negotiations, the 
Linyi move and Mr Wang’s reluctance to engage with the 
Board have all contributed to a challenging year.  
Significant progress has been made on all fronts, but there 
are challenges in the coming year which, if not resolved 
quickly, could prove as difficult as last year’s.  However, 
once the convertible loans have been repaid, the Board 
expects the Group to return to a more normal state of 
activity and seek opportunities to return to growth. 
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Board of Directors 
 

 
 
 

John McLean (Non Executive Chairman) 

 
John McLean, aged 62, is Non-executive Chairman of Sorbic International Plc, the leading Chinese sorbate producer and 
distributor and is executive Chairman of China Food Company plc, the 9th largest manufacturer and seller of soya sauce in 
China.  More recently he has been appointed to the boards of the China Britain Business Council (CBBC) as a non-
executive director and as Chair of VSO China. In 2007 he joined the board of Humberts plc, the estate agent, and became 
its Executive Chairman to lead its rescue and ultimate disposal. Prior to this, he carried out a strategic review for Gamma 
Holdings NV of their UK interests, including Sanderson, the textile and wallpaper company, and as its UK group managing 
director successfully implemented the turnaround and disposal plan. Sanderson was a global company that was brand and 
design led and had operations in America, Asia and China. In the nineties, he was Finance Director and then General 
Manager of ICS, the UK logistics and overnight courier business and co-led a management buy-out of the company with 3i, 
prior to its successful disposal to Hays plc. John is a Chartered Accountant and was previously with Coopers & Lybrand in 
both London and New York. 
 
 
 
Wang Yan Ting (President and Chief Executive Officer) 

 
Wang Yan Ting, aged 47, is the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and founder of LVST, and is responsible for 
implementing its strategy and direction. Mr. Wang has more than 20 years of business development experience and 
nearly eight years’ experience in the food preservatives industry. Notably, Mr. Wang spent a number of years as general 
manager of Linyi Zhongqiao Property Development Limited, a Chinese property developer. Thereafter, he was appointed 
managing director of Linyi Huasheng Trading Limited, a Chinese company principally involved in the manufacture of 
chemicals and plastics. Mr. Wang also served in the police force for four years. 
 
James Newman (Non-Executive Director) 

 
James Newman, aged 58, has over 30 years of experience in international business, particularly in finance and relating to 
Great China.  He has managed businesses, teams and investment portfolios through numerous cycles in Greater China, 
the UK and North America.  Jay currently advises UK and Chinese boards on strategy and development.  Previously he 
was Managing Director of Alliance Trust PLC and Head of Global Equities and a Director at Citigroup Asset Management.  
Jay also speaks Mandarin Chinese. Mr Newman is currently Non-Executive Chairman of Grand Group Investment Plc. 
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The Directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited financial statements of Sorbic 
International Plc (the “Company” or “Sorbic International”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 30 
September 2014. 
 
The purpose of this Strategic Report is to inform shareholders on several key matters and assist them is assessing the 
extent to which the directors have performed their legal duty to promote the success of the Company in accordance with 
section 172 of the Companies Act 2006. This report summaries: 
 

i) Business review and future developments; 
ii) Financial review; 
iii) Key performance indicators; 
iv) Risk affecting the Group; and 
v) Going concern. 

 
 
BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 
 
A review of the business and future developments was given in the Chairman’s Statement. 
 
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW 
 
Other than explained below performance for the year ended 30 September 2014 was broadly in line with expectation and 
a comparison to the year ended 30 September 2013 is summarised below. 
 

   
 

   
Percentage 

 
30 September 2014 30 September 2013 Change 

    Revenue £14.1m £14.62m (4%) 

Profit from operations before impairment £0.079m £0.604m (87%) 

Impairment loss - £(6.68)m - 

Loss before taxation £(0.46)m £(6.1)m 92% 

Cash and cash equivalents £6.9m £5.31m 30% 

Net assets £10.12m £10.45m (3%) 

Loss per share – basic (1.03)p (13.00)p 92% 

Loss per share – diluted (1.03)p (13.00)p 92% 

Loss / earnings per share before impairment: 
   Basic (1.03)p 0.68p (251%) 

Diluted (1.03)p 0.43p (339%) 
  
 
 
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (“KPIs”) 
 
The Directors have identified revenue, margins and working capital as major KPIs of the Group.  The Group’s 
performance through the year is reflected in our Key Performance Indicator.  
 
 
 
Revenue 
 
The Group’s revenue for the year ended 30 September 2014 was £14.1 million (2013: £14.6 million), representing a 
decrease of 3%. In local currency terms, there was an increase of 1%.  The average GBP: RMB exchange rate for 2014 
was 10.17 (2013: 10.268).   
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Margins 
 
Gross margin and net profit margin are used to measure the Group’s financial performance.  The Group’s gross profit for 
FY2014 was £1.4 million (2013: £1.9 million), representing a gross profit margin of 9.8% (2013: 12.9%). The change in 
gross margin has resulted from a decrease in the selling price of potassium sorbate.  
 
 
Working capital 
 
Working capital is managed through closely monitoring the revenue of the constituent parts measured as a comparison of 
inventory days, accounts receivable days and accounts payable days.  In FY2014 and FY 2013, the respective days were 
as follows: 

 2014 2013 

 
Inventory 

 
12 

 
22 

Accounts receivable 29 35 

Accounts payable 5 2 

 

 
There are no outstanding accounts receivables overdue at the year-end.  All existing and new customers’ creditworthiness 
are closely scrutinised during this period of uncertainty.  Payable turnover cycle has reduced with the Group making quick 
payments to suppliers to maintain positive credit relationship, as crotonaldehyde supply is tight.  
 
 
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 
Revenue for the year ended 30 September 2014 reached £14.1m compared with the year ended 2013 results of £14.6m.  
which has resulted in an operational profit of £79,000 compared to £600,000 for 2013. In addition, due to the change in 
status of Inner Mongolia, a full charge has been taken in respect of the Loan Stock interest which has resulted in an 
overall loss for the year of £0.4 million (2013: £6.1million).  A review of 2014 financial performance is provided in the 
Chairman statement. 
 
 
Group Statement of Financial Position 
 
As at 30 September 2014, the Group’s net assets stood at £10.1 million (30 September 2013: £10.5 million).  
 
As at 30 September 2013, the Group held cash balance of £6.9 million (2013: £5.3 million) an increase primarily due to 
cash generative operations.   
 
 
RISKS AFFECTING THE GROUP 
 
General economic climate 
 
The general economic climate is volatile and is affected by numerous factors which are beyond the Group’s control and 
which may affect its operations, business and profitability.  These factors include the supply and demand of capital, growth 
in gross domestic product, employment trends and industrial disruption, international economic trends, currency exchange 
rate fluctuations, the level of interest rates and the rate of inflation, global or regional political events and international 
events, as well as a range of other market forces, all of which have an impact on demand and business costs.  The Board 
monitors the situation and takes actions as required. 
 
Fluctuations in raw material prices 
 
A significant percentage of the raw materials used in sorbates production are dependent on petroleum. The prices of raw 
material like crotonaldehyde and acetic acid may fluctuate due to changes in the petroleum supply and demand conditions. 
Any shortage in the supply or upsurge in demand may lead to an increase in prices, which may adversely affect the 
Group’s profitability.  While the Group will seek to mitigate the impact by passing on all or at least part of the cost increase 
to customers, this is not always possible.  
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Competition 
 
The Group operates in a competitive market. In particular, some competitors may have access to greater financial 
resources and technical facilities than the Group, which may give them a competitive advantage. Due to the economic 
climate, competitors may also reduce prices, which may affect the Group’s margins. The Board and management meet 
regularly to review and discuss the Group’s strategy in relation to the market situation. 
 
 
Commercial Operations in the PRC 
 
Since 1979, many laws and regulations dealing with economic matters with respect to general and foreign investments 
have been promulgated in the PRC. In 1982, the PRC National People’s Congress amended the constitution to attract 
foreign investments and to safeguard the “lawful rights and interests” of foreign investors in the PRC. Since then, the trend 
of legislation has been to enhance the protection afforded to foreign investors and to allow more active control by foreign 
investors of foreign investment enterprises in the PRC. However, despite significant improvements in its legal system, 
there still exist difficulties in obtaining swift and equitable enforcement and in obtaining enforcement of judgments by a 
court of another jurisdiction in the PRC. Further, as a result of political changes, the interpretation of statutes and 
regulations may be subject to PRC government policies. Such uncertainties may affect the Group’s operations and 
accordingly, its profitability, prospects and financial position.  The Group monitors their operations in the PRC on an on-
going basis. 
 
 
Dependence on key executives and personnel 
 
The future performance of the Group will depend on its ability to retain the services and personal connections or contacts 
of key executives and to recruit, motivate and retain other suitably skilled, qualified and experienced personnel. Such key 
executives are expected to play an important role in the development and growth of the Group, in particular by maintaining 
good business relationships with regulatory and governmental departments and the Group’s existing customers, 
distributors and suppliers.  The Group aims to mitigate this risk by in-house staff development while giving them clear 
objectives and career paths. 
 
 
Dependence on licences, registrations, certifications and accreditations 
 
Operations of the Group are dependent on various licences, registrations, certifications and accreditations. The Directors 
are not aware of any occasion where the Group has been unable to renew its licences or registrations, or had its 
certifications or accreditations revoked. 
 
The Group’s businesses are subject to annual inspections and periodic checks by the relevant authorities in the People’s 
Republic of China (“PRC”) to ensure that their activities comply with applicable health and safety, hygiene and other 
environmental standards. In the event that they fail to pass such inspections or checks or otherwise fail to comply with and 
meet the requisite standards, the relevant authorities may require them to suspend their operations temporarily until such 
time as they are able to meet the requisite standards or may impose penalties and fines on them for the breach or may 
even withdraw or suspend their licences or permits or otherwise restrict or prohibit them from continuing their operations, 
all of which may have an adverse effect on the business and operations, financial results or financial position of the Group. 
 
The Group monitors the status of its licences, registrations, certifications and accreditations, together with compliance with 
health and safety regulations, and takes appropriate action where necessary. 
 
 
Retention of key business relationships 
 
The Group relies significantly on relationships with other entities (including customers and suppliers) and also on good 
relationships with Chinese regulatory and government departments. There can be no assurance that the Group’s existing 
relationships will continue or that new ones will be successfully formed and the Group could be adversely affected by 
changes to such relationships or difficulties in forming new ones. Any circumstance which causes the early termination or 
non-renewal of one of these key business relationships could adversely impact upon the Group, its business, operating 
results or prospects.  Key customers visit the facilities on a regular basis. 
 
 
Foreign exchange risks 
 
The Group’s dominant transactional currency is RMB, including the cost of materials. However, the Group’s overseas 
sales are denominated in USD.  Any future significant fluctuations in USD: RMB exchange rates may expose the Group’s 
trade receivables to exchange losses.  The Group monitors exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations on an on-going 
basis. 
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Exposure to environmental liability 
 
The PRC national and provincial environmental protection rules and regulations impose certain fees for the discharge of 
waste material and penalties or fines for environmental pollution. These rules and regulations also grant the relevant 
environmental regulatory bodies the power to order the closure of any facility, which causes serious environmental 
problems. Although the production processes carried on at the Group’s facilities in the PRC do not discharge large 
amounts of pollutants into the environment, there is no guarantee that new requirements promulgated by the relevant 
authorities in the PRC will not disrupt the Group’s production or require the Group to incur additional expenses in relation 
to environmental protection. 
 
 
Inner Mongolia Facility 
 
As announced on 23 April 2013, the Group had reached agreement with the local authorities in Ulanqab City, Inner 
Mongolia authorities over compensation terms and the resumption of building in Ulanqab, totalling approximately £5 
million.  However, with the advent of discussions in Linyi over a possible site re-location due to the redevelopment zone, 
the Board decided that it should not continue to pursue the commencement of rebuilding in Inner Mongolia while the 
option existed to expand within Linyi.  Accordingly the local authority in Ulanqab City were informed that the Company no 
longer wished to pursue its original plan in Inner Mongolia and would continue to seek compensation.  Negotiations are 
currently taking place on the understanding that the compensation agreement will be ‘fair and reasonable’ to both parties.  
An open dialogue exists with the Inner Mongolia authorities, however negotiations are slow. 
 
Future funding requirements 
 
Whether the Group has sufficient working capital resources to continue operational existence in its present form will 
ultimately be dependent on the outcome of discussions with the loan note holders / shareholders and the successful 
conclusion of the Inner Mongolia compensation negotiation.  Irrespective of the outcomes achieved, the Company will 
need to transfer funds out of China or raise additional capital to meet ongoing costs and in order to have sufficient 
resources to meet its obligations as they fall due  
 
 
Financial risk management 
 
The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing financial risks. The financial risk management objectives and policies 
of the Group are set out in note 26 to the financial statements. 
 
 
By order of the Board 

 
 
 

John McLean 
Non-Executive Chairman 
Date 23

rd
 March 2015



 
Sorbic International Plc Annual Report 2014 

Directors’ Report  

10 

 
  

 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 
The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and distribution of food preservatives, namely Sorbic Acid and 
Potassium Sorbate through its subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) as set out in Note 30. 
 
The results of the Group are set out in detail on page 20. 
 
 
SHARE CAPITAL 
 
Details of the movement in the Company’s share capital are set out in note 22 to the financial statements. 
 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
The directors do not recommend payment of a dividend in respect of the period ended 30 September 2014. 
 
 
DIRECTORS 
 
The following directors served the Company during the period: 
 
John Nigel Major McLean (Non-executive Chairman) 
 
Wang Yan Ting (President and Chief Executive Officer)  
 
None of the directors has had a material interest in a contract or arrangement of significance to which the Company or any 
of its subsidiaries was a party during the year except for those disclosed in note 24. 
 
 
EMPLOYEES 
 
The Board recognises that the Group’s employees are its most important asset.  Employees are encouraged to train and 
develop their careers. The Board maintains good working relations with employees by the use of clear channels of 
communication. The responsibility for communication with the workforce rests with the managers through formal and 
informal meetings. 
 
The Group is committed to achieving equal opportunities and to complying with anti-discrimination legislation. 
 
 
DISABLED EMPLOYEES 
 
The Group’s policy is to recruit disabled workers for those vacancies that they are able to fill. All necessary assistance with 
initial training courses is given. Once employed, a career plan is developed so as to ensure suitable opportunities for each 
disabled person.  Arrangements are made, whenever possible, for re-training employees who become disabled, to enable 
them to perform work identified as appropriate to their aptitudes and ability. 
 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY 
 
The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the best 
practicable means to reduce or eliminate polluting releases to the environment or in the disposal of waste products.  The 
Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements. 
 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
The board has comprised of two Directors for the year, however with the appointment of Jay Newman to the board the 
corporate governance processes will be improved.   
 
GENERAL MEETING 
 
The next General Meeting will be held at the Company’s legal adviser’s office (Stephenson Harwood, 1 Finsbury Circus, 
London, EC2M 7SH) on 7

th
 May 2015 
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDING 
 
The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 3% of the Company’s issued ordinary 
share capital at the date of this report:  
 
 

 
Shareholder 

 

 
Ordinary shares 

Percentage of 

issued share capital 
Prime Mega International Limited 20,160,000 30.71 
Les Allan 6,166,000 9.39 

Peel Hunt LLP 3,175,575 4.84 

Westminster Enterprises Limited 3,263,232 4.97 

Walker Crips  
John & Renate Gunn 

3,693,529 
2,509,047 

5.63 
3.82 

Hermes Financial Group (BVI) Limited 2,222,222 5.63 

The 181 Fund (Jersey) Ltd 2,870,000 4.30 

 
 
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations. 
 
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law, the directors 
have elected to prepare financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted 
by the EU (“IFRS”) and applicable law. Under Company Law, the directors must not approve the financial statements 
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and company and of the 
profit and loss of the group for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to: 
 
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed 

and explained in the financial statements; 
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the group 

and company will continue in business. 
 
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Group and Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of both the group and company and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
In so far as each director is aware: 
 
• there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and 
• each director has taken all steps that he might reasonably expected to have taken as a director in order to make 

himself aware of any relevant information needed by the auditor in connection with preparing their report and to 
establish that the auditor is aware of that information. 

 
To the extent that financial information is made available on the Company’s website, the directors confirm that they are 
responsible for the maintenance and integrity of that information. However, as the Internet is accessible in many countries 
with different legal requirements relating to the preparation and dissemination of financial statements, the directors can 
give no undertaking that it meets all requirements in all countries in which it may be considered to be published.  
 
 
AUDITOR 
 
Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP has expressed their willingness to continue as auditor. A resolution to reappoint Crowe Clark 
Whitehill LLP as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the next Annual General Meeting.  
 
 
By order of the Board 

 
 

John McLean 
Non-Executive Chairman 
23 March 2015
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The remuneration committee presents the Directors’ remuneration report for the year ended 30 September 2014. 
 

As Sorbic International plc (the “Company”) is an AIM listed company, it is not required to present a Directors’ 

Remuneration report.  The Board has chosen to do so as a voluntary disclosure. The information presented meets the 

requirement of the changes to the AIM Rule 19, effective February 2010. 

 

The purpose of the Remuneration Committee is to review the remuneration policy for the Directors and other senior 

management and to determine the level of remuneration package in order to attract, motivate and retain talent.  The 

Remuneration Committee will consult with the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer in respect of their 

recommendation in determining the remuneration of the Directors and senior management. 

 

Given the current position of the Group, the remuneration of the directors has remained the same as in prior years.   

 

 
REMUNERATION POLICY 

 
Executive remuneration packages are prudently designed to attract, motivate and retain directors of the necessary calibre 

and to reward them for enhancing value to shareholders.  The performance measurement of the Executive Directors and 

key members of senior management and the determination of their annual remuneration package is undertaken by the 

Remuneration Committee.  The remuneration of the Non-executive Directors is determined by the Board, and within the limits 

set out in the Articles of Association.  Executive Directors are entitled to accept appointments outside the Company providing 

the Board’s permission is sought. 

 
The non-executive Directors remuneration is determined by the Board, having regard to the level of fees payable to non-executive 

directors in the industry generally, the role that individual directors fulfill in respect of Board and Committee responsibilities and 

the time committed to the Company’s affair. 

 
The policy of the Board is to review the level of Directors’ fees and remuneration from time to time.  During the year ended 
30 September 2014, the remuneration committee carried out a review of the level of directors’ fees and remuneration, and 
decided that the annual fees should remain unchanged for the present. 

 
TERMS OF APPOINTMENT 

 
The Executive Directors have service contracts with the Company or subsidiary in addition to their appointment as directors 

of the Company. The Company’s policy is that directors have contracts for an indefinite term, providing for a maximum of 

six months notice. 

 
The terms of their appointment provide that at every annual general meeting one-third of the Directors are bound to retire and 

be subjected to reappointment by Shareholders. The terms also provided that the contract is to continue until termination 

by either party giving six months’ notice or by resolution of the shareholders. There are no liquidated damages or other 

compensation payable by the Company upon early termination of the directors. 

 

 

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION DETAILS  
 

Salary 

 
 

Benefits 

 
 

Bonuses 

 
 

Fees 

 
 

Other 

 
 

2014 

 
 

2013 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 
John Nigel Major McLean - - - - 50,000 50,000 49,746, 

Wang Yan Ting 117,960 - - 10,000 791 128,751 128751 

 

 

In the year under review no share options and incentive schemes have been granted to the Directors. 

 
Other benefits paid to directors during the year relate to HM Revenue and Customs (“HMRC”) national insurance for 
John Mclean. 
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The Group’s principal Chinese subsidiary, LVST is required to participate in the employee pension schemes operated by the 

relevant local government authorities in the PRC.  £791 was paid during the year for Wang Yan Ting.  No other directors 

received pension payments. 
 
 

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST 

 
The Directors’ interest in the share capital of the Company at 30 September 2014 and at the date of this report are shown below: 

 

 

 Ordinary Shares held 

Director Direct 

John Nigel Major McLean 381,429 

 381,429 

 

 

The Directors’ interest in the convertible loan notes of the Company at 30 September 2014 and at the date of this report are 

shown below: 

 

 Convertible loan notes A  Convertible loan notes B 

Director Direct Deemed  Direct Deemed 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 

John Nigel Major McLean - -  40 - 

      

Wang Yan Ting - -  - - 

      

 - -  40 - 

 

______________________ 
 
 
 
 

This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 23 March 2015 and signed on its behalf by: 
 

John McLean 
Non-Executive Chairman 
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We have audited the financial statements of Sorbic International plc for the year ended 30 September 2014, which 

comprise the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement of 

Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements, the Consolidated and 

Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity and the related notes numbered 1 to 31. 

 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the parent company financial statements, 
as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. 

 
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 

Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are 

required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 

accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit 

work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

 
RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR 

 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation of 

the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial 

statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 

require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

 

 
SCOPE OF THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 

assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 

assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have been consistently 

applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the 

overall presentation of the financial statements. 

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Strategic Report, the Chairman’s Statement and the 
Directors’ Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is 
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing 
the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our 
report. 
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OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
In our opinion: 

 

 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent company's affairs as 
at 30 September 2014  and of the Group‘s loss for the year then ended; 

 the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union; 

 the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by 
the European Union as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and  

 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

 
EMPHASIS OF MATTER  

 
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not qualified, we have considered the adequacy of the 
disclosures made in note 2.22.1 to the financial statements concerning the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern.  In this respect, we have also considered the adequacy of the disclosure regarding the final settlement with 
the Inner Mongolia authorities as set out in note 21.As discussed in note 2.22.1, the Group will need to raise funds, or 
transfer the funds from the Chinese operations, in order to meet the Company’s ongoing costs and repay the Group’s 
existing convertible loan notes, which are now in default.  These conditions indicate the existence of a material 
uncertainty, which may cast doubt on the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the future. The 
financial statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the Group and Company were unable to continue 
as a going concern.    

 
 

OPINION ON OTHER MATTER PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006 

 
In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial 

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 
 

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION 

 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, 

in our opinion: 

 
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not 

been received from branches not visited by us; or 

• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Leo Malkin         St Bride’s House 

Senior Statutory Auditor        10 Salisbury Square  

For and on behalf of        London 

Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP       EC4Y 8EH 

Statutory Auditor 

London 

 
23 March 2015 
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  Year ended 

30 September 2014 
Year ended 

30 September 2013 
Notes £ £ 

 
Revenue 

 
4 

 
14,074,421 

 
14,619,913 

Cost of sales  (12,698,901) (12,726,137) 

Gross profit  1,375,520 1,893,776 

Distribution and selling expenses  (187,905) (184,121) 

Administrative expenses  (1,108,425) (1,105,984) 

Profit from operations  79,190 603,671 

    

Finance income 7 33,424 30,867 

Finance costs 8 (547,176) (74,471) 

Unrealised foreign exchange loss  (28,386) (5,016) 

(Loss)/Profit before tax and impairment  (462,948) 555,051 

Impairment loss 6 - 
 

(6,684,701) 

Loss before tax  (462,948) (6,129,650) 

Income tax expense 11 (132,322) (221,240) 

Loss for the year attributable to equity 
holders of the parent 

12 (595,270) (6,350,890) 

Other comprehensive income 

- Exchange differences on translating foreign operation  (88,562) 288,423 

Comprehensive loss, net of tax 
 
 
 

 (683,832) (6,062,467) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to 

equity holders of the parent 
  

(683,832) 
 

(6,062,467) 

Loss per share 

- Basic (pence) 
 

13 
 

(1.03) 
 

(13.00) 

- Fully diluted (pence) 13 (1.03) (13.00) (
0
.
6
6
) 

Adjusted (loss) / earnings per share (before impairment loss) 

- Basic (pence) 

 

13 

 
(1.03) 

 

0.68 

- Diluted (pence) 13 (1.03) 0.43 

 

 

The notes on pages 25 to 57 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Capital 
reserve 

Surplus 
reserve 

Retained 
earning 

Share 
based 

payment 
reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Reverse 
acquisition 

reserve 
Hedging 
reserve 

Convertible 
loan notes - 

equity 

Total equity 
attributable 
to owners 

of the 
parent 

 
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

 

                    
  

At 30 September 2012 2,703,273 22,085,073 2,725,219 485,805 7,202,912 30,000 2,034,520 (20,911,925) (451,353) 76,019 15,979,543 

Issue of ordinary share   499,886      83,314  - - - - - 
 

- - 583,200 

Share issue costs - (48,122) - - - - - 
 

- - (48,122) 

Expiry of share options - - - - 30,000  (30,000) -   - - - 

Loss for the period - - - - (6,350,890) - -   - - (6,350,890) 

Other comprehensive income: 
     

            

Exchange differences on 
translation of foreign operations 

- - 63,699 11,356 - - 211,545 - - 1,823 288,423 

Total comprehensive income for 
the period 

- - 63,699 11,356 (6,350,890) - 211,545 - - 1,823 (6,062,467) 

            

At 30 September 2013 3,203,159 22,120,265 2,788,918 497,161 882,022 - 2,246,065 (20,911,925) (451,353) 77,842 10,452,154 

 
                    

Issue of ordinary share 228,614  160,186 - - - - - - - - 388,800 

Share issue cost - (33,125) - - - - - - - - (33,125) 

Loss for the period - - - - (595,270) - -   - - (595,270) 

Other comprehensive income: 
     

            

Exchange differences on 
translation of foreign operations 

- - (19,387) (3,456) - - (65,944) - - 225 (88,562) 

Total comprehensive income for 
the period 

- - (19,387) (3,456) (595,270) - (65,944) - - 225 (683,832) 

            

At 30 September 2014 3,431,773 22,247,326 2,769,531 493,705 286,752 - 2,180,121 (20,911,925) (451,353) 78,067 10,123,997 
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 Share capital  

 Share 
premium  

 Share 
based 

payment 
reserve  

 Convertible 
loan notes - 

equity  

 
Accumulated 

losses   Total equity  

 
 £   £   £   £   £   £  

As at 30 September 2012 2,703,273  22,085,073      30,000         76,019      (8,784,728)  16,109,637  

Issue of ordinary share      499,886          83,314   -  - -     583,200  

Share issue costs  -      (48,122)  -   -   -       (48,122) 

Loss for the period  -   -   -   -     (6,858,063) (6,858,063) 

Expiry of share options  -   -   (30,000)  -            30,000   -  

Convertible loan notes-
Equity 

 -  - -           1,823   -          1,823  

Total Comprehensive 
Income 

 -   -   -   -     (6,858,063) (6,858,063) 

As at 30 September 
2013 

3,203,159  22,120,265   -         77,842   (15,612,791)   9,788,475  

       

Issue of ordinary share    228,614  160,186  -  - - 388,800 

Share issue cost  (33,125) - - - (33,125) 

Loss for the period  -   -   -   -        (909,577)  (909,577) 

Convertible loan notes-
Equity 

 - -  -              225  -              225  

Total Comprehensive 
Income 

 -   -   -  225        (909,577)    (909,352) 

As at 30 September 
2014 

3,431,773  22,247,326  -         78,067   (16,522,368)   9,234,798  
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ASSETS 

 
Non-current assets 

 

Property, plant and equipment 14 5,388,472 6,001,071 

Land use rights 15 2,163,567 2,243,331 

  7,552,039 8,244,402 

 
Current assets 

Inventories 

 

 
16 

 

 

436,577 

 

 

1,083,429 

Trade receivables 17 1,138,403 1,271,036 

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 18 251,521 259,040 

Cash and cash equivalents 19 6,947,185 5,311,311 

Amount due from director 20 6,115,280 6,142,668 

  14,888,966 14,067,484 

 
Total assets 

  
22,441,005 

 
22,311,886 

 
LIABILITIES 

   

 

Current liabilities 

Trade payables 

  

 
167,462 

 

 
96,226 

Advanced payments  180,476 161,143 
Accruals and other payables 21 1,912,429 225,336 
Amount due to directors 20/29 6,929,129 8,588,833 
Current tax liabilities  30,735 102,780 
Convertible loan notes 25  3,096,778  2,685,414 

  12,317,008 11,859,732 
 

Total liabilities 
  

12,317,008 
 

11,859,732 
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EQUITY 

 
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of 

 

the Company 

 

Share capital 
 

22 
 

3,431,773 
 

3,203,159 
Share premium 22 22,247,326 22,120,265 
Capital reserves 23.1 2,769,531 2,788,918 
Surplus reserves 23.2 493,705 497,161 
Retained earnings  286,752 882,022 
Reverse acquisition reserve 23.3 (20,911,925) (20,911,925) 
Convertible loan notes – equity 25 78,067 77,842 
Foreign currency translation reserve  2,180,121 2,246,065 
Hedging reserve 23.4 (451,353) (451,353) 
Total equity  10,123,997 10,452,154 
 
Total equity and liabilities 

  
22,441,005 

 
22,311,886 

 
 

These financial statements were approved by the directors and authorised for issue on 23 March 2015, and signed on 

their behalf by : 

 

John McLean 

Non-executive Chairman 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Company Number: 06280431 
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ASSETS 

 
Non-current assets 

 

Investment in subsidiary 31 13,056,257 13,056,257 

   
13,056,257 

 
13,056,257 

 
Current assets 

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 

 

 
18 

 

 
42,719 

 

 

15,776 

Amount due from subsidiary – Honour Field 24 28,741   - 

Cash and cash equivalents 19  2,960 164,590 

 
Total current assets 

  

74,420 

 

180,366 

 
Total assets 

  
13,130,677 

 

13,236,623 

 

 
LIABILITIES 

   

Current liabilities 

 
   

Accruals and other payables    132,156 81,789        

Amount due to subsidiary – Honour Field 24 666,945 680,945 

Convertible loan notes 25           3,096,778   2,685,414  

 
Total current liabilities 

  
3,895,879 

 

3,448,148 

 
Total liabilities 

  
3,895,879 

 

3,448,148 
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EQUITY 

 
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders 
of the Comoany 

 

the Company 

 

Share capital 
 

22 
 

3,431,773 
 

3,203,159 
Share premium 22 22,247,326 22,120,265 
Convertible loan notes – Equity 25 78,067 77,842 
Accumulated loss  (16,522,368) (15,612,791) 

   
Total equity 

  
9,234,798 

 
9,788,475 

 
Total equity and liabilities 

  
13,130,677 

 
13,236,623 

 
 

These financial statements were approved by the directors and authorised for issue on 23 March 2015 and signed on 

their behalf by: 

 

John McLean 

Non-executive Chairman 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Company Number: 06280431 
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Year ended 

30 September 2014

Year ended 

30 September 2013 

Notes  £ £ 
 

 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Loss for the period before tax 

  

 
(462,948) 

 

 
(6,129,650) 

Adjustments for: 

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 
 

15 

 
51,801 

 
54,109 

Depreciation 14 532,320 564,294 
Impairment loss 6 - 6,684,702 

Interest income 7 (33,425) (30,867) 
Finance costs 8 547,176 74,471 
Operating cash flows  

Changes in working capital:  

Decrease/ (increase) in inventories 

 634,924 

 
639,321 

1,217,059 

 
(646,583) 

Increase in trade and other receivables  138,207 174,505 
Decrease in trade and other payables  109,118 (19,525) 

 
Cash generated from operations 

  
1,521,570 

 
725,456 

Income tax paid  (132,322) (150,542) 
Interest paid  (3,662) (74,471) 

 
Net cash generated from operating activities 

  
1,385,586 

 
500,443 

 
   

 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Interest received  33,436 30,879 

 
Net cash generated from investing activities 

  
33,436 

 
30,879 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Loan from financial institution  - 1,208,400 

Repayment of loan from financial institution  - (1,208,400) 

Proceeds from issuance of new shares, net of issue costs   111,875 535,078 

Proceeds from issuance of convertible loan notes  111,875 88,260 

 
Net cash generated from financing activities 

  
223,750 

 
623,338 

 
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

  
1,642,772 

 
1,154,660 

 

Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash equivalents  
 

(6,898) 
 

68,058 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF 

PERIOD 

  

 
5,311,311 

 

 
4,088,593 

 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 

 

19 
 

6,947,185 
 

5,311,311 
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For Year Ended  For Year Ended 

30 September 2014 30 September 2013 
 

 Notes £ £ 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

Loss before taxation 

 

 

29 

 

 
(909,577) 

 

 
(6,858,064) 

Adjustments for: 

Interest income 
  

(22) 
 

(49) 
Finance costs                        544,150  288,565                     

288,565 Impairment Provision 31                      -                      6,250,000 

 
Operating cash flows 

             
(365,449) 

            
(319,548) 

 

Increase in receivables 
  

(26,943) 
 

(109,186) 
Increase /(decrease) in payables  36,367 (31,143) 
Increase in amount due from subsidiary 24 (28,741) - 

 
Operating cash flows 

             
(384,766) 

            
(459,877) 

Interest paid  (636) - 

 
Net cash used in operating activities 

  
(385,402) 

 
(459,877) 

    

 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Interest received 

  

 
22 

 

 
49 

 
Net cash from investing activities 

  
22 

 
49 

    

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from issuance of convertible loan notes  111,875 88,261 

Proceeds from issuance of new shares, net of issue costs   111,875 535,078 
 
Net cash generated from financing activities 

  
223,750 

 
623,339 

 

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 

(161,630) 
 

163,511 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF 
PERIOD  

 164,590 1,079 

 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 

 
19 

 
2,960 

 
164,590 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Notes to the Financial Statements 

 
Sorbic International Plc Annual Report 2014 

 

25 

 
  

 

 

 
 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

 

Sorbic International Plc and its subsidiaries’ (the “Group”) principal activities include the production and sale of food 

preservatives, Sorbic Acid and Potassium Sorbate.  The Group’s main operations are in the People’s Republic of China 

(“PRC”). 

 

Sorbic International Plc, a public limited company, is the Group’s ultimate parent company.  It is incorporated and 

domiciled in the United Kingdom. The address of Sorbic International’s registered office is 17 Hanover Square, 

London W1S 1HU.  Sorbic International’s shares are listed on the AIM Market of the London Stock Exchange. 

 

 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
2.1. Basis of preparation 

 
The Group's financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2014 are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”). 
 
The Directors have formed a judgement that there is an expectation that the Company and Group as a whole 
have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.  For this reason, the 
Directors have adopted the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements as described further in 
note 2.22.1 to the financial statements. 
 
The accounting policies adopted by the Group are consistent with those of the previous financial year except 
in the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards and Interpretations of 
IFRS that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2013. The adoption of these 
standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance or position of the Group 
and the Company. 
 
Issued but not yet EU adopted 
 
IFRS 9 - Financial instruments 
 
Issued and EU adopted 
 
IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
IFRIC 21 Levies 
Amendment to IAS 19 – Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions 
Amendment to IAS 27 – Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 
Amendment to IAS 36 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for non-Financial Assets 
Amendment to IAS 39 – Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting 
Amendment to IFRS 11 – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 
Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27) 
Agriculture: Bearer Plants (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41) 
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38) 
 
The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations in future reporting 
periods will have a material impact on the Company’s results. 
 

 
2.2. Presentation of Financial Statements 

 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial 

Statements (revised 2007) and comprise the financial statements of all the entities within the Group.  The 

financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting date as the parent company. 

Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. 

 

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
2.2.1. Reverse acquisition accounting 

 
In April 2008, Honour Field successfully completed the acquisition of Linyi Van Science and Technology 
Limited (“LVST”) for a total purchase consideration of £3,624,495. 
 
A qualitative and quantitative analysis of these factors leads the directors to conclude that in this 
transaction LVST should be treated as the accounting acquirer as the executive management of LVST 
became that of Honour Field as well as the agreement between management and acquiring shareholders. 
 
In September 2008, the Company successfully completed the acquisition of Honour Field and its 
subsidiary for a total purchase consideration of up to £20,120,000, excluding expenses, as fulfilled by an 
immediate issuance of 16,526,667 new Ordinary shares of the Company upon completion of the 
acquisition. A further 10,300,000 new Ordinary shares was issued in the year to 30 September 2009 
upon Honour Field meeting its profit target under a deferred consideration scheme known as the Escrow 
share scheme. 
 
Due to the relative values of the companies, the former Honour Field shareholders became majority 
shareholders with 68.15 percent of the enlarged ordinary share capital in Sorbic International, and hence 
hold the majority of the voting rights. Further, the executive management of the LVST became that of 
Honour Field and Sorbic International. A qualitative and quantitative analysis of these factors leads the 
Directors to conclude that in this transaction Honour Field has the controlling interest and should be 
treated as the accounting acquirer. 
 
In determining the appropriate accounting treatment for the reverse acquisition, the directors have 

considered the Application Supplement to IFRS 3, Business Combinations.  However, they have 

concluded that this transaction falls outside of the scope of IFRS 3, since Sorbic International, whose 

activities prior to the acquisition were limited to the management of cash resources and the maintenance 

of its listing, did not constitute a business. It has therefore been determined that the transaction should 

be accounted for in a manner that is similar to the reverse accounting as described in IFRS 3, but without 

recognising goodwill. 

 

In accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, in developing 

an appropriate accounting policy the directors have considered the pronouncements of other standard- 

setting bodies and specifically looked to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 

of America (“US GAAP”) for guidance (FAS 141, Business Combinations) as well as SEC rules. Under US 

GAAP, in a reverse acquisition, the target company (Honour Field) is treated as the acquiring company 

for financial reporting purposes (no purchase accounting adjustments) and the fair value of the issuing 

company’s common shares (Sorbic International) is recognised, together with adjustments necessary to 

reflect the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets at their fair value with any remainder assigned to 

goodwill (full application of purchase accounting). 

 

Under US GAAP, such a transaction is treated as an equity issuance by the operating entity (in this case 

Honour Field).  As a result, the cost of the combination is deemed to equal the net monetary assets of 

the acquiree (Sorbic International) plus transaction costs.  Only costs incurred by the “target” company 

can be capitalised. 

 
2.3. Revenue  

 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when it 

is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured 

reliably. 

 

Revenue from the sales of manufactured goods and trading of raw material are recognised on the transfer 

of significant risks and rewards of ownership, which generally coincides with the time when the goods are 

delivered and the title has passed to the customer. 

 

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 
2.4. Income tax and taxation 

 

2.4.1. Current tax 

 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 

expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 

compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

 

2.4.2. Sales tax 

 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except: 

 

• Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the 

taxation authority, in which case the sales is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the 

asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and 

• Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included. 

 

2.4.3. Taxation 

 

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax. 

 
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period.  Taxable profit differs from profit as 
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other periods and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date. 

. 

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit, and are 
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for 
all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses 
or unused tax credits can be utilised.  Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 
asset to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the income statement, except when it 
relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in 
equity. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

2.5. Employee benefits 

 

Honour Field, based in Singapore, makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme in 

Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. 

 

The Group’s Chinese subsidiaries follow the rules and regulations stipulated by the PRC, including: 

 

2.5.1. Pension obligations 

 

LVST contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes, which are available to all employees. 

Contributions to the schemes by LVST and employees are calculated as a percentage of 

employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income represents contributions payable by LVST to the scheme. 

 

2.5.2. Termination benefits 

 

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to 

terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed 

formal plan, which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal. 
 

2.6. Functional and foreign currency 

 

2.6.1. Functional and presentation currency 

 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group entities are measured using the 

currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”); 

i.e. The functional currency of LVST and Inner Mongolia Van Science Technique Co., Ltd is Renminbi and 

the functional currency of all other group companies is Sterling.  The financial information is presented in 

Sterling, which is Sorbic International’s functional and presentational currency 

 

2.6.2. Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements 

 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at 

the rates ruling on the balance sheet date.  Profits and losses resulting from this translation policy are 

included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.7. Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their 
residual values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The estimated useful lives of property, 
plant and equipment are as follows:  

 Useful economic life 
(years) 

  
Buildings 20 

Plant and machinery 12 

Office equipment and fixtures 5 

Motor vehicles 5 
 

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
balance sheet date. 
 
Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and plant and machinery pending 
installation, and is stated at cost less impairment losses. The assets would be transferred to the 
respective class of assets on completion. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are available for use. 

 
The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

 

2.8. Land use rights 

 

Land use rights are capitalised and stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over the term of the rights, and is included within administrative 

expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

 

2.9. Inventories 

 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average 
basis. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and an 
appropriate proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting 
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The Group reviews an 
ageing analysis at each balance sheet date and makes allowances for obsolete and slow-moving inventory 
items identified that are no longer suitable for use in production. 

 

2.10. Trade and other receivables 

 

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment. An allowance for impairment of trade and 
other receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of trade. The amount of the allowance is the difference between 
the receivables’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.  The amount of the allowance is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.11. Impairment of assets 

 

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets, inventories and 

receivables to determine whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.  If any such 

indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any 

impairment loss.  Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 

Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

 

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 

the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.  An impairment 

loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, unless the relevant 

asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 

not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had 

no impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years.  A reversal of an 

impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, unless 

the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 

as a revaluation increase. 

 

In the previous year, the Group made a total impairment provision of £6.68 million, consisting of £1.65 million of its 

intangible assets as well as £5.03 million against property, plant and equipment of Inner Mongolia to reflect its fair 

value in accordance with IAS 36. No further impairment has been made for the year ended 30 September 2014. 

Further detail is provided in note 6 to the financial statements. 

 

In the previous year, the Company made an impairment provision of £5.25 million on its investments in Honour Field 

Group to reflect its fair value in accordance with IAS 36. No further impairment has been made for the year ended 30 

September 2014. Further detail is provided in note 31 to the financial statements. 

 

2.12. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, 
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which 
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 

 
2.13. Trade and other payables 

 
Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are 
stated at cost. 

 
2.14. Borrowings and Borrowing costs 

 
2.14.1. Borrowings 

 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
2.14.2. Borrowing costs 

 
Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred.  Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directlly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset.  Capitalisation of 
borrowing cost commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in 
progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred.  Borrowing costs are 
capitalised until the assets are ready for their intended use.  If the resulting carrying amount of the 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is incurred.  No borrowing cost capitalised 
during the year. 

 
2.15. Financial instruments 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis where the 
purchase or sale of the instrument is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within 
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus directly 
attributable transaction costs except in the case of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  The 
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below. 

 

2.16. Convertible loan notes 

 

Convertible loan notes issued by the Group are regarded as compound instruments, consisting of a liability 
component and an equity component.  At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is 
estimated using prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt. The difference between the 
proceeds from issuing the convertible loan notes and the fair value assigned to the liability component, 
representing the embedded option to convert the liability into equity of the Group is included in equity. 
 
Issue costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible loan notes based 
on their relative carrying amounts at the respective date of issue. The portion relating to the equity 
component is charged directly against equity. 
 
The interest expense on the liability component is calculated by applying the prevailing market interest rate 
for similar non-convertible debt to the liability component of the instrument.  The difference between this 
amount and the interest paid is added to the carrying amount of the convertible loan note. 

 

2.17. Equity 
 
For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statement of the Group, the share capital represents 
the nominal value of the issued share capital of Sorbic International. Share premium represents the excess 
over nominal value of the fair value consideration received for equity shares net of expenses of the share 
issue. 
 
The PRC statutory reserves comprise of the capital reserves and the surplus reserves of the subsidiaries of 
Honour Field established in the PRC, which were set-up in accordance with their respective article of 
association and the relevant PRC laws and regulations. 
 
The reverse acquisition reserve arises as a result of following the accounting method described in note 2.2.1 
in respect of the RTO completed in 2008. 
 
Foreign currency translation reserve represents the difference arising from translation of investment in 
overseas subsidiaries. 
 
The accounting policies adopted for specific equity related financial instruments and arrangements are set out 
below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  



Notes to the Financial Statements 

 
Sorbic International Plc Annual Report 2014 

 

32 

 
  

 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.18.  Share-based payments 

 

All share-based payment arrangements are recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the period in 

which the associated goods or services are provided.  The Group operates equity-settled share-based 

remuneration plans for remuneration of its employees, although to-date no options have been granted under 

these plans. 

 

All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured at their fair 

values at the date the services are provided. 

 

All equity-settled share based payments are recognised as an expense with a corresponding credit to “Share 

based payment reserve”.  Where the cost relates to the issue of shares, the cost has been offset against share 

premium.  Upon exercise of the share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable 

transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares issued are allocated to share capital with any excess 

being recorded as share premium. 

 
 

2.19. Derivatives financial instruments and hedging activities 

 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 

subsequently remeasured at their fair value.  The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on 

whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 

The group designates certain derivatives as either: 

 

 hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge);  
 

 hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable 
forecast transaction (cash flow hedge); or 

 

 hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge). 

 

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and 

hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging 

transactions.  The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, 

of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair 

values or cash flows of hedged items.  The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current 

asset or liability when the remaining hedged item is more than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability when 

the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months.  Trading derivatives are classified as a current 

asset or liability. 

 

2.19.1. Fair value hedge 

 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are 

recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, together with any changes in the 

fair value of the hedged or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.  The Group only applies fair 

value hedge accounting for hedging fixed interest risk on borrowings.  The gain or loss relating to the 

effect portion of interest rate swaps hedging fixed rate borrowings is recognised in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income within “finance costs”.  The gain or loss relating to the ineffective 

portion is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income within “other 

gains/(losses) — net”.  Changes in the fair value of the hedge fixed rate borrowings attributable to 

interest rate risk are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income within 

‘finance costs’.  If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the 

amount of a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss 

over the period to maturity. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

2.19. Derivatives financial instruments and hedging activities (continued) 

 

2.19.2. Cash flow hedge 

 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash 

flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective 

portion is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income within “other 

gains/(losses) —net”. 

 
Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss (for example, when the forecast sale that is 

hedged takes place). The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging 

variable rate borrowings is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income within 

“finance costs”. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income within “other gains/(losses)— net”. However, when the forecast 

transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset (for example, inventory or fixed 

assets) the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the 

initial measurement of the cost of the asset. The deferred amounts are ultimately recognised in cost of 

goods sold in case of inventory or in depreciation in case of fixed assets. 

 

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is 
recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative 
gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income within “other gains/(losses) — net”. 

 
2.19.3. Net investment hedge 

 
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any 
gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in 
other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income within “other gains/(losses) — net”. Gains and 
losses accumulated in equity are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
when the foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold. 

 
 
 

2.20. Provisions and contingent liabilities 

 

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a present legal or 

constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 

be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.  Where the time value of money is 

material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation. 

 

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 

estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is 

remote.  Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non- occurrence 

of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

2.21. Investments in subsidiary undertakings 
 

 Investment in subsidiary companies is stated at cost, less provision for diminution in carrying value.  The Board 
conducts annual impairment review of its investment to ensure that the Company’s assets are not carried at more 
than their recoverable amount. 
 

2.22. Key assumptions and sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 

amounts of expenses during the reporting period. 

 

Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, results 

ultimately may differ from those estimates. The directors have reviewed the accounting policies set out above 

and consider them to be the most appropriate to the Group’s business activities. 

 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 

by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant 

risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 

year are discussed below: 

 
2.22.1. Going concern 

 
The preparation of financial statements requires an assessment on the validity of the going concern 
assumption. The validity of the going concern assumption is dependent on finance being available 
for the continuing working capital requirements of the Group and finance for the development of the 
Group’s projects becoming available.   

 
As discussed in the Chairman’s Statement, the following key areas impact on the going concern 
basis: 

 The Company’s requirement for either further equity fund raising or the transfer of funds from 
the Chinese operations in order to meet the Company’s ongoing costs 

 The Company has convertible loan notes which matured on 31 December 2014, and are in 
default. The repayment, conversion or renegotiation of the loan notes is dependent on releasing 
the funds from China to enable the repayment to take place. 

 

In approving the financial statements, the Board has recognised that the combination of these 

circumstances creates a level of uncertainty. However, having made enquiries and considered the 

uncertainties outlined above, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the 

Group have sufficient resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, 

based on the remittance of the funds held in China to the UK. Accordingly, the Board believes it is 

appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the financial statements.  

 
Further details regarding going concern are discussed under the Strategic Report. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

2.22. Key assumptions and sources of estimation uncertainty 
 

The Group also uses the following estimates and assumptions that do not have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.  These are: 

 
2.22.2. Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

 
The Group evaluates whether items of property, plant and equipment have suffered any impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may 
not  be recoverable, in accordance with the stated accounting policy.  The recoverable amounts of 
cash  generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations.  Where it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  The Group will continue 
to review the carrying value of their property, plant and equipment and adjustments will be made in 
future periods should an impairment loss be identified. For the year ended 30 September 2013, the 
Group made a total impairment provision of £6.68 million, consisting of £1.65 million of its intangible 
assets as well as £5.03 million against property, plant and equipment of Inner Mongolia to reflect its 
fair value in accordance with IAS 36. No further impairment has been made for the year ended 30 
September 2014. Further detail is provided in Note 6 to the financial statements.  The carrying 
amounts of these assets are shown in Notes 14 and 15. 

 
 

 
2.22.3. Commercial and business environment in the PRC 

 

The Group’s main trading operations are based in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). 

The Chinese system operates within a political framework of communist control. Although the 

Directors believe that political conditions in the PRC are generally stable, changes may occur in its 

political, fiscal and legal systems which might affect the ownership or operation of the Group’s 

interests, including, inter alia, changes in exchange control regulations, changes in government and 

in legislative and regulatory regimes. 

 

Activities, assets and entities based in the PRC within the group may be impacted by these evolving 

structures as well as other China related considerations, which could impact on the control of 

individual assets or the control of whole entities. 

 

Whilst it is not possible to quantify the potential effect of such uncertainty on the group’s operations, it 

is noted that the group is currently has been approached by the Linyi authorities to relocate the 

current facility in Linyi due to the area being rezoned by local authorities.  As previously reported, the 

Group’s plans to build in Inner Mongolia were changed following the Inner Mongolia Authority’s 

requirement to rezone the company’s factory. In addition, the release of funds out of China has 

proved difficult, which has necessitated the raising of funds outside of China to enable the Company 

to meet its financial obligations in the UK and Singapore.   

 

Overall, the Group recognises that doing business in the PRC entails certain ambiguities and risks. 

The lack of consistency and predictability in the outcome of dispute resolutions, the lack of certainty 

in the interpretation, implementation and enforcement of the PRC laws and regulations and political 

system, may affect the Group’s business, profitability, financial position and prospect. 
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3. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in 

order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 

structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

 

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank and other borrowings, and equity attributable to equity holders of 

the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves. 

 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 

return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

 

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio and also debts to 

equity ratio. 

 

3.1 Gearing ratio 

 

The gearing ratio is defined and calculated by the Group as a total of interest-bearing borrowings to the owners’ 
equity. Total equity includes mainly equity attributable to equity holders of the company. 

 

During the year ended 30 September 2014, the Group’s strategy was to maintain the gearing ratio at a moderate 

level within 1:3 in order to secure access to finance at a reasonable cost. The gearing ratios as at the balance 

sheet dates were as follows: 

Group As at 

30 September 2014 

As at 

30 September 2013 

 £ £ 

Debts- interest bearing  
 

 
    

   

Convertible loan notes 3,096,778 2,685,414 

Total 3,096,778 2,685,414 

Equity   

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the 
company 

10,123,997 10,452,154 

Gearing ratio 1:3.3 1:3.9 

 

The debt to equity ratio is defined and calculated by the Group as total debt (total liabilities) to the owner’s equity, 

at 30 September 2014 was 1:1.2 (2013:1:1.1). 

 

Group As at 

30 September 2014 

As at 

30 September 2013 

 £ £ 

 

Total debts 

 
12,317,008 

 
11,859,732 

Capital and reserves attributable to 
equity of the company holders 

10,123,997 10,452,154 

Debt to equity ratio 1:1.2 1:1.1 
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4. REVENUE 
 
All revenues relates to the sales of goods. Revenue represents the invoiced value of goods, net of discounts and returns. 
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:  

  
      

 Year ended 

30 September 2014 
Year ended 

30 September 2013 

 £ £ 

 
Sale of Sorbic Acid 

6,941,135 7,283,223 

 

Sale of Potassium Sorbate 7,133,286 7,336,690 

 

 14,074,421 14,619,913 

 

5. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 

 
For the purpose of IFRS 8 the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”), who is responsible for allocating resources 
and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors (“the Board”). 
The Board consists of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.  The Board determines the operating segments 
based on reports reviewed and used by the Board for strategic decision-making and resource allocation. 
 
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s geographical and operating segments. 

The Group’s operating segments are as follows: 

(i) Sorbic acid 

(ii) Potassium sorbate 

(iii) Head office and other adjustments, which incorporates a measure of assets and liabilities not included in the other segments 

 
During the year ended 30 September 2014 the Group earned approximately 44% (2013: 45%) of its revenue through its 

American distributor, APAC. 

 

Geographical Information - Revenue Year ended 

30 September 2014 
Year ended 

30 September 2013 

 £ £ 
 
PRC 

 
6,577,712 

 
6,862,773 

United States 6,248,004 6,604,170 

Russia 49,445 107,018 

Netherlands 249,302 375,194 

Other 949,958 670,759 

 

Consolidated 
 

14,074,421 
 

14,619,913 
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5. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 

 
All non-current assets are held in the PRC. 

 

  
 

Operating Segments 

 
 
Sorbic acid 

 

Potassium 

sorbate 

Head office 
and other 

adjustments 

 
 

Consolidated 

  £ £ £ £ 

  
Year ended 30 September 2014 

    

 
 

Revenue 
 

6,941,135 

 

7,133,286 
 

- 

 

14,074,421 

 Gross profit 290,701 1,084,819 - 1,375,520 

 Loss before taxation - - (462,948) (462,948) 

 Taxation - - (132,322) (132,322) 

 Net loss after tax - - (595,270) (595,270) 

 Segment assets 219,020 180,640 22,041,345 22,441,005 

 Segment liabilities - - 12,317,008 12,317,008 

 Finance income - - 33,424 33,424 

 Finance costs - - (547,176) (547,176) 

 Depreciation and amortisation - - 584,121 584,121 

 Capital expenditure - - - - 

 

Year ended 30 September 2013 

 
 

Revenue 
 

7,283,223 

 

7,336,690 
 

- 

 

14,619,913 

Gross profit 412,064 1,481,712 - 1,893,776 

Loss before taxation - - (6,129,650) (6,129,650) 

Taxation - - (221,240) (221,240) 

Net loss after tax - - (6,350,890) (6,350,890) 

Segment assets 299,957 232,652 21,779,277 22,311,886 

Segment liabilities - - 11,859,732 11,859,732 

Finance income - - 30,867 30,867 

Finance costs - - (74,471) (74,471) 

Depreciation and amortisation - - 618,403 618,403 

Capital expenditure - - - - 

 
6. IMPAIRMENT LOSS 

 
During the prior year, the Directors decided not to continue to pursue the commencement of rebuilding the existing facility 
in Inner Mongolia.  The Group continues to seek compensation and negotiations are currently taking place on the 
understanding that the compensation agreement will be ‘fair and reasonable’ to both parties.   
 
The net book value of the non-current assets in respect of Inner Mongolia prior to any impairment amounted to £9,138,000, 
of which £1.65 million is included within intangible assets, and the remaining £7.59 million is included within plant, property 
and equipment. The Directors made an impairment provision against all of the intangible assets (£1.65 million) as well as 
£5.03 million against property, plant and equipment. The total provision in this respect amounts to £6.68 million. The 
unprovided non-current assets relate to equipment purchased which the Directors expect to use in a new facility. The 
provision will be reassessed when the quantum of the compensation agreement has been agreed.   

 

7. FINANCE INCOME 
 

Finance income and costs included are all interest related. The following amounts have been included in the income 

statement line for the reporting periods presented: 

 Year ended 

30 September 2014 
Year ended 

30 September 2013 

 £ £ 
 
Interest Income 

33,424 30,867 
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8. FINANCE COST 
   

 
 

 
9. STAFF COSTS 

 Year ended 

30 September 2014 
Year ended 

30 September 2013 

 £ £ 
Directors’ remuneration: 

 
Sale of Sorbic Acid 

  
Fees as directors 10,000 15,000 

For management 121,710 174,340 

Other emoluments 109,297 45,495 

Pension costs 791 5,908 
 

 241,798 240,743 

There are no directors to whom retirement benefits are accruing under money purchase pension schemes.  

Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration: 

 

Average number of persons employed by the Group, including directors 

 
 
 

 Year ended 

30 September 2014 
Year ended 

30 September 2013 

 £ £ 
 

Interest on bank loans and borrowings 
303,376 74,471 

Other finance costs 
243,800 - 

 547,176 74,471 

The Company incurred a non-cash finance charge of £243,800 in relation to the loan holders.    

 Year ended 

30 September 2014 
Year ended 

30 September 2013 

 £ £ 

Wages and salaries 567,396 641,138 

Social security costs 78,824 78,015 

Pension costs 131,021 122,234 

 

 777,241 841,388 

 Year ended 

30 September 2014 
Year ended 

30 September 2013 

 No. No. 

Management 17                        17                        

Sales 10 10 

Production and administration 234                         235                         
 

 261 262 
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10. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 
 
The Company makes contributions to HM Revenue and Customs national insurance for the UK directors. 
 
Honour Field is based in Singapore, and makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme in 
Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. 

 
The Group’s Chinese subsidiaries are required to participate in the employee pension schemes operated by the 
relevant local government authorities in the PRC. The PRC government is responsible for the pension liabilities to 
the employee pension scheme. LVST is required to make contributions for those employees who are registered as 
permanent residents in the PRC and are within the scope of the relevant PRC regulations at rates ranging from 19% 
to 20% of the employees’ salaries. 

 
 

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 

 Year ended 
30 September 2014 

Year ended 
30 September 2013 

 £ £ 

Current tax 

 

132,322 

 

221,240 

 Deferred tax - - 

 132,322 221,240 

   

Loss before tax (462,948) (6,129,650) 
   

Tax on loss at standard rate (23%; 2013: 25%)* (106,409) (1,532,413) 
Tax effect of non-deductible expenditure 238,730 1,753,653 
Current tax expense recognised in income statement 132,322 221,240 

Effective tax rate (23.0)% (3.6)% 

 
* The Company is subject to a United Kingdom tax rate of 23% (2013:25%).  No tax provision is provided at the 

Company level, as all current profits are foreign derived income. 

 
The Company’s subsidiary Honour Field International Limited is a BVI registered company and it has tax-exempt status.  
 
The Company’s subsidiary Linyi Van Science and Technique Co., Limited (“LVST”) is subject to a PRC Enterprise 
Income Tax rate of 25% (2013: 25%). 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss in the United Kingdom which are carried forward to the extent that 
the realisation of the related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable.  The Group did not recognise 
deferred income tax assets of £734,689 (2013: £639,724) in respect of losses amounting to £3,194,304 (2013: 
£2,284,727) that can be carried forward against future taxable income since future taxable profits were not considered 

probable. 

 

 
  

 Year ended 

30 September 2014 
Year ended 

30 September 2013 

 £ £ 

UK 1,954                       2,391                         

Singapore - 3,738 

China 76,870                         71,886                         
 

 
78,824 78,015 
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12. LOSS FOR THE PERIOD 

 
The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging the following: 

 

 Year ended 
30 September 2014 

Year ended 
30 September 2013 

 £ £ 

Depreciation 
 

532,320 
 

564,294 
 

Exchange losses 28,386 5,016 

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 51,801 54,109 

Impairment loss   

–   Property, plant and equipment - 5,034,228 

–   Land use right - 1,650,473 

Auditor’s remuneration: 
 

 
 

 
–   Fees payable for the audit of the Company’ annual accounts 54,000 54,000 

 
 

13. LOSS PER SHARE   
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Diluted 

 
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to 
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  The Company has two categories of dilutive potential 
ordinary shares: share options and convertible loan notes.  For the convertible loan notes, a calculation is done to 
determine the number of shares that could have been acquired based on the monetary value of the subscription 
rights attached to outstanding share options and convertible loan notes.  The number of shares calculated as above 
is adjusted for the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the convertible loan notes.  
The contingently issuable shares included within the share options and convertible loan notes are anti-dilutive and are 
not included in the calculation. 
 

 2014 2013 

   

Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company (£) (595,270) (6,350,890) 

   

Weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue (number) 57,675,100 48,843,733 

 
Diluted earnings per share (pence) (1.03) (13.00) 

 
Adjusted earnings per share has been calculated by adding back the impairment loss of nil (2013: £6,684,701) to the 
loss of £595,270 (2013: loss of £6,350,890).    
  

Basic 2014 2013 

Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company (£) (595,270) (6,350,890) 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issued (number) 57,675,100 48,843,733 

Basic loss per share (pence) (1.03) (13.00) 
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13. EARNING PER SHARE  (continued) 
 

 2014 2013 

   Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company (£) (595,270) (6,350,890) 

Adjustment for:   

Impairment loss (£) - 6,684,701 

 
(Loss)/Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (£) (595,270) 333,811 

Weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue (number) 57,675,100 48,843,733 

 Basic loss per share (pence)  (1.03) 0.68 

Adjustment for:   

Convertible loan notes (number) - 28,477,778 

 57,615,100 77,321,511 

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (pence) (1.03) 0.43 

 
 

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

Buildings 

Plant and 

machinery 

Office 

equipment 

and 

fixtures 

Motor 

vehicles 

Construction 

in progress Total 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Cost       

       

At 1 October 2012 3,300,711 4,684,926 63,694 90,059 6,987,415 15,126,805 

       

Additions - - - - 288,552 288,552 

Translation differences 77,151 109,505 1,489 2,105 151,072 341,322 

At 30 September 2013 3,377,862 4,794,431 65,183 92,164 7,427,039 15,756,679 

       

Translation differences (23,481) (33,328) (453) (641) (45,990) (103,893) 

At 30 September 2014 3,354,381 4,761,103 64,730 91,523 7,381,049 15,652,786 

       

Accumulated depreciation 

 and impairment       

At 1 October 2012 992,398 2,956,011 59,855 64,506 - 4,072,770 

       

Charge for the year 162,389 387,027 427 14,451 - 564,294 

Translation differences 19,930 61,631 1,391 1,364 - 84,316 

Impairment 59,995 - - - 4,974,233 5,034,228 

At 30 September 2013 1,234,712 3,404,669 61,673 80,321 4,974,233 9,755,608 

       

Charge for the year 155,462 370,503 244 6,111 - 532,320 

Translation differences (5,477) (17,260) (425) (452) - (23,614) 

At 30 September 2014 1,384,697 3,757,912 61,492 85,980 4,974,233 10,264,314 

       

Carrying amount       

At 30 September 2013 2,143,150 1,389,762 3,510 11,843 2,452,806 6,001,070 

At 30 September 2014 1,969,684 1,003,191 3,238 5,543 2,406,816 5,388,472 

       

  



Notes to the Financial Statements 

 
Sorbic International Plc Annual Report 2014 

 

43 

 
  

 

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 
 

During the year, the Directors decided not to continue to pursue the commencement of rebuilding the existing facility 
in Inner Mongolia.  The Group continues to seek compensation and negotiations are currently taking place on the 
understanding that the compensation agreement will be ‘fair and reasonable’ to both parties.   
 
The Directors made an impairment provision of £5.03 million against property, plant and equipment. The unprovided 
non-current assets relate to equipment purchased which the Directors expect to use in a new facility. The provision 
will be reassessed when the quantum of the compensation agreement has been agreed. 

 
 

15. LAND USE RIGHTS 

 
The Group’s prepaid land lease payments represent payments for land use rights situated in the PRC under medium 
term leases.  The Group’s land use rights lease prepayments are being amortised straight-line over 48-50 years terms 
and included under administration expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 
During the year,.  The Group continues to seek compensation and negotiations are currently taking place on the 
understanding that the compensation agreement will be ‘fair and reasonable’ to both parties.   
 
In 2013,the Directors made an impairment provision against all the relevant intangible assets of £1.65 million, 
further details of which are described in note 6. 

 
 

16. INVENTORIES 

 

 Group As at As at 

  30 September 2014 30 September 2013 

  £ £ 

 Raw materials 36,261 314,850 

 Consumables 12,951 16,831 
 Finished goods 387,365 751,748 

  436,577 1,083,429 
 
  

 Year ended 

30 September 2014 
Year ended 

30 September 2013 

 £ £ 
Cost   
Beginning of period 4,208,955    4,112,821    

Translation difference (29,258) 96,134 

End of period 4,179,697 4,208,955 

   

Accumulated amortization and impairment loss   

Beginning of period 1,965,624 256,099 

Charge for the year 51,801 54,109 

Impairment loss  1,650,473 

Translation difference (1,295) 4,943 

End of period 2,016,130 1,965,624 

   

Carrying amount 

 
2,163,567 2,243,331 
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17. TRADE RECEIVABLES 
 

Trade receivables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and on 3 months’ terms.  They are recognised at their 
original invoice amounts, which represent their fair values on initial recognition less provision for impairment where 
it is required. 
 

Trade receivables that are less than three months past due are not considered impaired. 
 

The ageing analysis of trade receivables which are due but not impaired are set out below.  These relate to a 
number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. 
 

  As at As at 

  30 September 2014 30 September 2013 

  £ £ 

 Up to three months 1,138,403 1,271,036 

 
Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be fully recoverable. There are no 
concentrations of credit risk in trade receivable. 

 
 

18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 
 Group As at As at 

  30 September 2014 30 September 2013 

  £ £ 

 Prepayments 214,287 243,264 
 Other receivables 37,234 15,776 
  251,521 259,040 

    
 Company As at As at 

  30 September 2014 30 September 2013 

  £ £ 

 Prepayments 21,152 - 

 Other receivables 21,567 15,776 
  42,719 15,776 

 
 

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

  

Group 
 

As at 

30 September 2014 

 

As at 

30 September 2013 

  £ £ 

  
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
6,947,185 

 
5,311,311 

 

The cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies: 

 As at 

30 September 2014 
As at 

30 September 2013 
£ £ 

 
Renminbi 

 
6,932,392 

 
5,123,074 

Singapore Dollar 1,835 4,652 

Pound Sterling 12,958 183,585 

  
6,947,185 

 
5,311,311 
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19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) 

 

The conversion of Renminbi denominated cash and bank balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of 

these funds out of the PRC are subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the 

PRC government. 
 
 

  
Company 

 

As at 

30 September 2014 

 

As at 

30 September 2013 

  £ £ 

  
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
2,960 

 
164,590 

 
 
 

20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/ (TO) DIRECTOR 
 

  

Group 
 

As at 

30 September 2014 

 

As at 

30 September 2013 

  £ £ 

 Wang Yan Ting: 
 

  

    

 Amount due from directors  6,115,280 6,142,668 

 Amount due to directors (6,929,129) (8,588,833) 

 
The director loans are denominated in Renminbi and are unsecured.  
 
Mr. Wang Yan Ting is a director of the Company and the former owner of LVST. RMB50.8 million (£5.1 million) 
within the amount due from directors relates to transactions entered with the director to resolve a tax position that 
arose due to the acquisition of LVST. In order to resolve the position, a loan of RMB50.8 million (£5.1million) was 
made by Wang Yan Ting (“WYT”), a director and shareholder in Sorbic International plc and the former owner of 
LVST to LVST, and a contribution of the same amount was made by WYT to HonourField International Limited 
(“HF”).  These amounts are repayable on demand.  Since the legal agreements relating to the set off of  the above 
transactions have not been executed at the date of statement of financial position,  the amounts due to and due from 
WYT are included in other payables and other receivables respectively.  Further loans have since been made to 
finance the Group’s expansion plans.  
 
The amount due to directors consists of the loan from the director in relation to the above tax position and additional 
loans from the director to fund the Group’s expansion plans. All these loans repayable on demand, unsecured, 
interest free. 
 

 

21. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 
Included in accruals and other payables is RMB 16m (£1.6 million) due to the Inner Mongolia authorities for the 
purchase of land, which was previously included as part of Mr Wang’s loan balance as set out in Note 20.  As far as 
the Board is aware, there are no further amounts due in relation to this loan, with further detail and explanation  
relating to discussions with the Inner Mongolia authorities explained further in notes 6 and 14 to the financial 
statements.    
 
There are no outstanding short-term bank loans as at 30 September 2014 and 2013.   
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22. SHARE CAPITAL 

 
The movement on the share capital account was as follows: 

 
  

Issued, called up and fully paid 
 

Ordinary shares 
£ 

 
Deferred shares 

£ 

 At 1 October 2012   

 45,054,551 Ordinary shares of £0.06 each 45,054,551 Ordinary shares of £0.06 each 45,054,551 Ordinary shares of £0.06 each 45,054,551 Ordinary shares of £0.06 each 2,703,273 - 

 Issue of shares – 8,331,429 Ordinary shares of £0.06 each 499,886 - 

     - 

 At 30 September 2013 3,203,159 - 

 53,385,980 Ordinary shares of £0.06 each   

 Issue of shares – 3,768,572 Ordinary shares of £0.06 each 226,114 - 

 Split and redenomination of shares  (3,372,119) 3,372,119 

 Issue of shares – 2,500,000 Ordinary shares of £0.001 each   2,500 
 

  - 
  At 30 September 2014 59,654 3,372,119 

 
The principal amount of the convertible loan notes issued on 27 August 2010, 25 February 2011 and 26th March 
2013 can be converted into such number of new fully paid ordinary shares of the Company at a conversion price of 9 
pence per share at any time up to the final redemption date of 31 December 2014. As at 30 September 2013, 
29,866,667 ordinary shares are reserved for issue. No conversion took place during the year.   
 
During 2013, the Company issued 3,768,572 Ordinary Shares of £0.06 each at £0.07 in connection with the 
renegotiation with the loan note holders.  The Ordinary Shares of £0.06 were redenominated and split into New 
Ordinary Shares of £0.001 each and Deferred Shares of £0.059 each.  The Deferred Shares are not entitled to 
receive dividends or other distributions, does not entitle the holder to vote or speak at General Meetings of the 
company, and provide a return of assets on a winding up after the repayment of the capital paid-up on the Ordinary 
Shares.  Subsequently, the Company issued 2,500,000 Ordinary Shares of £0.001 at a premium of £0.049 per share.  
Subsequent to the year end, 6,000,000 Ordinary Shares of 0.001p were issued at 4p per share, raising £240,000. 
 

  
The movement on the share premium account was as follows: 

 

  
Share premium 

 
£ 

 At 1 October 2012 22,085,073 

 Premium on issue of shares     83,314  

 Share issue costs (48,122) 
  At 30 September 2013  22,120,265 

 Premium on issue of shares 37,686 

 Premium on issue of shares 122,500 

 Share issue costs (33,125) 
  At 30 September 2014 22,247,326 

  
 

 
As at 

30 September 2014 

 
As at 

30 September 2013 

  £ £ 

 Authorised 
 

  

 100,000,000 ordinary share of £0.001 each (2013: 100,000,000 
ordinary share of £0.06 each) 

100,000 6,000,000 

 100,000,000 deferred share of £0.059 each (2013: nil) 5,900,000 - 
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23. RESERVES 
 
23.1. Capital reserve 

 

The capital reserve comprises the surplus between the fair value of the net assets and the nominal value of 

shares issued when LVST was converted/ acquired from a state-owned enterprise to a limited company 

 

The capital reserve can only be used for conversion into share capital. 

 

Domestic PRC companies are also required to transfer 5% to 10% of net profit, as determined under PRC 

accounting regulations, to the statutory common welfare fund.  This fund can only be used to provide staff 

welfare facilities and other collective benefits to the employees of that company.  This fund is non-

distributable other than in the event of liquidation. 

 
23.2. Surplus reserve 

 

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations, PRC domestic companies are required to 
transfer 10% of their profit after income tax, determined in accordance with PRC GAAP, to the statutory 
reserves, until the balance of the reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of that company. Subject to 
certain restrictions as set out in the relevant PRC regulations, the statutory reserve may be used to offset 
against accumulated losses, if any. 

 
23.3. Reverse acquisition reserve 

 
The reverse acquisition reserve arises as a result of following the accounting method described in note 2.2.1 in 

respect of the reverse acquisition. 

 

23.4. Hedging reserves 

 
The hedging reserve arises as a result of following the accounting method described in note 2.19.3 and relates 

to the foreign currency exchange losses that arose from the Renminbi denominated consideration for the 

acquisition exercise. 
 
 

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 
Group 
 

An entity or individual is considered a related party of the Group for the purpose of the financial statements if:  

 

(i)   it possesses the ability (directly or indirectly) to control or exercise significant influence over the operating 

and financial decisions of the Group or vice versa; or  

(ii)   it is subject to common control 

 

In addition to related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following significant related 

party transactions took place during the year on terms agreed between the parties: 

 

 As at 

30 September 2014 
As at 

30 September 2013 
£ £ 

Director – John Mclean   

Convertible loan interest charged 4,614 4,614 

Consultancy Fee 50,000 50,000 
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24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 
 
 

24.1. Compensation of key management personnel (as recognised in the consolidated income statement) 
 

  
  

24.2. Convertible loan notes 

 
Outstanding convertible loan notes owed to director, John McLean were as follows: 
 

 

 As at As at 

 30 September 2014 30 September 2013 

 Direct  Direct  
£  £  

Principal 40,000  40,000  

Interest accrued 10,923  6,309  
 

 
Company 

 
The following significant related party transaction took place during the year on terms agreed between the parties: 

 

 
The amount due from a subsidiary represents an amount advanced by Sorbic International to a subsidiary.  It is 
unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment. 
 
The amount due to a subsidiary represents payments made by the subsidiary on behalf of the Company. It is 
unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment. 

 
 

  
Number of directors As at 

 
As at 

 
  

 
/key management 30 September 2014 30 September 2013 

   £ £ 

 Directors remuneration:  
(Short-term employee benefits) 

   

 Wages and emoluments 2 241,798    240,743 

 Key management: 
(Short-term employee benefits) 

   

 Wages and emoluments 2 181,462 181,462 

  As at As at 

  30 September 2014 30 September 2013 

  £ £ 

 Honourfield International Limited 

 
  

 Amount due from subsidiary 28,741 - 
    

 Amount due to subsidiary 666,945 680,945 
    

 Management fee income from a subsidiary 24,000 24,000 
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25. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES  
 
Convertible loan notes A (the “A Loan Notes”) and Convertible loan notes B (the “B Loan Notes”) were issued on 27 
August 2010 and 25 February 2011 respectively.  The loan notes are convertible into ordinary shares of the 
Company at any time between the date of issue of the notes and their maturity date of 26 February 2013 at £0.26 per 
share.   
 
The effective interest rate used to calculate the interest charged for both A and B loan notes to the income statement 
was 12%. 
 
On 26 March 2013 the Company announced that it proposed, conditional upon admission and in part on shareholder 
approval, to raise approximately £0.7 million (before expenses) through the issue of £125,000 of convertible loan 
notes (the “New A Loan Notes”) and 8,331,429 new ordinary shares of 6 pence each, to be issued at 7 pence each. 
Subsequently at the 2013 AGM, the shareholders gave their approval and the securities were admitted to listing. 

 
The required majority of holders of A and B loan notes agreed to amend the terms of the loan note instruments to 
which such loan notes relate such that the redemption date was 31 August 2014.  The New A Loan Notes will be 
issued subject to the terms of the A loan note instrument and the New A Loan Notes will have the same terms as the 
A and B Loan Notes currently in issue.  

 
Key terms of New A Loan Notes (and the revised A and B Notes) are: 
 

●  Conversion price is set at price of 9 pence; 
●  Interest remains at 10% p.a. compounded semi-annually and rolled up to redemption; 
●  Interest may, at the election of the loan note holders, be paid through the issue of new ordinary shares; 
●  Redemption premium equal to 1.5% per month, from date of new loan note instrument, if Company chooses 

to redeem early; and 
●  Redemption date of 31 August 2014. 

 
On 29 August 2014, the required majority of holders of the A and B loan notes agreed to extend the redemption 
date to 31 December 2014, based on the following terms: 

 

 A repayment premium equal to 10% of the principal amount outstanding if the principal is repaid between 1 

September 2014 and 30 October 2014 

 A repayment premium equal to 20% of the principal amount outstanding if the principal is repaid between 1 

November 2014 and 31 December 2014 

 Redemption date of 31 December 2014. 

 
The loan notes were not redeemed or converted on 31 December 2014 and are now in default.   The Company is in 
discussions with a number of the loan-note holders and has recently visited China to expedite the redemption of the 
outstanding loan stock. 

 
The net proceeds received from the issue of the convertible loan notes have been split between the liability element 
and an equity component, representing the fair value of the embedded option to convert the liability into equity of the 
Group as follows: 
 
 
 
30 September 2014 A Loan Notes B Loan Notes  Total 
         
 Gross 

amount 
Transaction 

costs 
Net 

amount 
Gross 

amount 
Transaction 

costs 
Net 

amount 
 Net 

amount 

 £ £ £ £ £ £  £ 

Convertible loan notes 
issued 

1,812,000 163,859 1,648,141 876,000 72,199 803,801  2,451,942 

Equity component 59,221 4,904 54,317 25,887 2,137 23,750  78,067 
         
Liability component at 
date of issue 

1,752,779 158,954 1,593,825 850,113 70,062 780,051  2,373,876 

Transfer of A to B notes   (395,292)   395,292  - 
Interest charged   596,249   528,620  1,124,869 
Interest paid   (228,032)   (173,935)  (401,967) 

Liability component at 
30 September 2014 

  1,566,750   1,530,028  3,096,778 
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30 September 2013 A Loan Notes B Loan Notes  Total 
         
 Gross 

amount 
Transaction 

costs 
Net 

amount 
Gross 

amount 
Transaction 

costs 
Net 

amount 
 Net 

amount 

 £ £ £ £ £ £  £ 

Convertible loan notes 
issued 

1,687,000 150,733 1,536,267 876,000 72,199 803,801  2,340,068 

Equity component 58,969 4,877 54,092 25,887 2,137 23,750  77,842 
         
Liability component at 
date of issue 

1,628,031 145,856 1,482,175 850,113 70,062 780,051  2,262,226 

Transfer of A to B notes   (395,292)   395,292  - 
Interest charged   444,641   380,514  825,155 
Interest paid   (228,032)   (173,935)  (401,967) 

Liability component at 
30 September 2013 

  
1,303,492   1,381,922  2,685,414 

 
 
 

26. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 
 

The Group’s capital commitments at the balance sheet date are as follows 

 
 

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

Risk management objectives and policies 

The Group is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to currency risk, interest 

rate risk and certain other price risks, which result from both its operating and investing activities. The Group establishes 

and coordinates its risk management at its headquarters in China, in close co-operation with the Board of directors.  

The Group focuses on actively securing the Group’s short to medium term cash flows by minimising the exposure to 

financial markets.  The overall financial risk management objective is to ensure that the Group enhances shareholders’ 

value.  Financial risk management is carried out through risk reviews, internal control systems and adherence to the 

Group’s financial risk management policies. 

 
The Group does not engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write options.  The 

most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below. 

 

27.1. Currency risk 
 

The Group’s ultimate holding company is located in United Kingdom and its monetary assets; liabilities and 

transactions are principally denominated in the functional currency of respective group entities, which are 

mainly British Pound (“GBP”).  However, most of the transactions of the Group are carried out in the PRC 

– where its subsidiary LVST operates. The Group’s sales transactions are transacted either in Renminbi (“RMB”) 

and US Dollar (“USD”) whereas all related purchases and loan borrowings transactions are therefore denominated 

in Renminbi (“RMB”).  The amounts to be paid and received in RMB are expected to largely offset one another. No 

hedging activity is undertaken. For the financial period, the Group’s expenses incurred were in a combination of 

GBP, RMB and Singapore Dollar (“SGD”).  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  As at As at 

  30 September 2014 30 September 2013 

  £ £ 

 Contracted but not provided for 

 
  

 - Construction in progress 3,300,000 3,300,000 
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)  

27.1. Currency risk (continued) 

 
Facing the continuous appreciation of RMB against GBP and USD, the Group is facing the following foreign 
currency translation exposure: 

Group  As at 30 September 2014  As at 30 September 2013 
 

        £    £  

Nominal amounts RMB USD SGD RMB USD SGD 
Financial assets       

- trade receivables 259,437 878,966 - 726,689 544,347 - 

- other receivables 200,220 - 8,582 243,264 - - 

- cash & banks 6,932,394 - 4,562 5,123,074 - 4,652 

- amount due from director 6,115,280 - - 6,142,668 - - 

       

Financial liabilities       

- trade payables (167,462) - - (96,226) - - 

- other payables (1,704,810) - (7,810) (95,260) - - 

- accrual (248,129) - - (209,428) - - 

- amount due to related company - - - - - - 

- amount due to director (6,929,129) - - (8,588,833) - - 

Short term exposure 4,457,801 878,966 5,334 3,245,948 544,347 4,652 

 

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity in regards to the Group’s financial 

assets and financial liabilities and the GBP– RMB, GBP – USD, and GBP – SGD exchange rate.  The sensitivity 

analysis is based on the Group’s foreign currency financial instruments held at each balance sheet date.  

 

If the GBP had weakened against the RMB, USD and SGD by 1% (2013: 1%), 1% (2013:1%) and 1% (2013: 1%) 

respectively, then this would have had the following increase /(decrease) in the net result for the year and equity. 
 
 

   As at 30 September 2014         As at 30 September 2013 
 

  £               £ 

 RMB USD SGD  RMB USD SGD 

 +1% +1% +1%  +1% +1% +1% 
Net result for the year 44,271 8,790 53 

 

 31,431 5,443 47 

 Equity 44,271 8,790 53 

 

 31,431 5,443 47 

  

If the GBP had strengthened against the RMB, USD and SGD by 1% (2013:1%), 1% (2013:1%) and 1% 

(2013:1%) respectively, then this would have had the following increase /(decrease) in the net result for the year 

and equity. 

 
 As at 30 September 2014                         As at 30 September 2013 

 

  £    £  
 RMB USD SGD  RMB USD SGD 

 -1% -1% -1%  -1% -1% -1% 
Net result for the year (44,271) (8,790) (53) 

 

 (31,431) (5,443) (47) 

Equity (44,271) (8,790) (53) 

 

 (31,431) (5,443) (47) 

Company 

The Company is not exposed to foreign currency risk as all of the transactions during the year are 
denominated in GBP. 
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)  

27.2. Interest rate sensitivity 

 
The Group’s policy is to minimise interest rate cash flow risk exposure on long-term financing. Longer-term 

borrowings are therefore usually at fixed rates.  As at 30 September 2014, there are no outstanding interest-

bearing short-term borrowings. 

 

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to the fluctuation of the prevailing market 

interest rate on interest-bearing financial assets and financial liabilities.  Interest-bearing financial assets are 

mainly balance with banks, which are short term in nature. 

 

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing financial liabilities that mainly are short-term 

borrowings arrangements.  Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate 

risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

 
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to variable interest rate for non-

derivative instruments at the balance sheet date.  For variable-rate borrowings, the analysis is prepared 

assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year. 

 

A 100 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key 

management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in 

interest rate. 

 
Group 

 
 As at 30 September 2014 As at 30 September 2013 

 Change in interest rate Change in interest rate 

 +1% -1% +1% -1% 

 £ £ £ £ 

Cash and banks 69,448 (34,002) 53,118 (30,283) 

Loan and borrowings (30,968) 30,968 (26,854) 26,854 

 38,480 (3,034) 26,264 (3,429) 

 

As at 30 September 2014, if interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower and all other variables 

were held constant, this would increase the Group’s profit after tax and retained earnings by approximately 

GBP38,480/ GBP3,034 (2013: increase/(decrease) by GBP26,264/ (GBP3,429)) 

 
Company 

 

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity to a reasonably possible 

change in interest rates of +1% and -1%.  These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on 

observation of current market conditions.  The calculations are based on the company’s financial instruments 

held as at the balance sheet date. All other variables are held constant. 

 
 As at 30 September 2014 As at 30 September 2013 

 Change in interest rate Change in interest rate 

 +1% -1% +1% -1% 

 £ £ £ £ 

Cash and banks 30 (21) 1,646 (59) 

Loan and borrowings (30,968) 30,968 (26,854) 26,854 

 (30,938) 30,947 (25,208) 26,795 
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)  

27.3. Credit risk  
 

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the counter parties failure to perform their 

obligations as at 30 September 2014 in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying 

value of those assets as stated in the consolidated balance sheet, as summarised below: 

 
Group 

 

 
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk, the 

management of the Group continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparties, identified 

either individually or by group, and incorporates this information into its credit risk controls. The Group’s 

policy is to deal only with creditworthy counterparties. 

 

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade and other debt at each 

balance sheet date to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. 
 

 
The Group’s management considers that all the above financial assets that are not impaired for each of the 

reporting dates under review are of good credit quality. The credit risk on liquid funds is considered 

negligible because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings. 

 

All trade receivables as at 30 September 2014 are current. 
 
 

Company 

 
In respect of trade and other receivables, the Group is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure. 

  

  As at As at 

  30 September 2014 30 September 2013 
  £ £ 

 Trade and other receivables 1,389,923 1,530,076 

 Amount due from director 

 
6,115,280 6,142,668 

 Cash and cash equivalent 6,947,186 5,311,311 

  14,452,389 12,984,055 

  As at As at 

  30 September 2014 30 September 2013 

  £ £ 

 Trade and other receivables 71,459 15,776 

 Cash and cash equivalent 2,960 164,590 

  74,419 180,366 
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)  

27.4. Liquidity risk analysis 
 

 Group 
 

The Group’s objective is to ensure adequate funds to meet commitments associated with its financial liabilities. 
Cash flows are closely monitored on an ongoing basis.  The Group manages its liquidity needs by carefully 
monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long term and short-term financial liabilities as well as cash-
outflows due in day- to-day operation.  Capital investments are committed only after confirming the source of 
funds; e.g. securing long-term financial facilities. Liquidity needs are monitored in various time bands, on a day-to-
day basis, as well as on the basis of a rolling one month and three months projection.  Long term liquidity needs 
for a 360-day lookout period are identified in the year-end budget. 
 

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and try to maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents 
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations 
in cash flows.  Management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings from time to time and is of the opinion 
that most of the bank borrowings can be renewed based on the strength of the Group’s earnings and asset base. 

 
Any repayments for amounts due to related parties or shareholders are negotiated so as not to jeopardise the 
working capital requirement of the Group. 

 

The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity for its financial liabilities.  The table has been drawn up 
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group and 
the Company can be required to pay. 

 

As at 30 September 2014     

 
Less than 1 

month 
Less than 3 

months 
3 to 12 

 months 
Total 

 £ £ £ £ 

Trade and other payables 660,367 - 1,600,000 2,260,367 

Amount due to shareholders and 
directors - - 6,929,129 6,929,129 

Convertible loan notes - - 3,096,778 3,096,778 

 660,367 - 11,625,907 12,286,274 
 

Further detail in relation to the convertible loan notes is provided in note 25 to the financial statements. 

 

This compares to the maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities in the previous reporting periods as follows: 

 
 

As at 30 September 2013     

 
Less than 1 

month 
Less than 3 

months 
3 to 12 

 months 
Total 

 £ £ £ £ 

Trade and other payables 482,705 - - 482,705 

Amount due to shareholders and 
directors - - 8,588,833 8,588,833 

Convertible loan notes - - 2,685,414 2,685,414 

 482,705 - 11,274,247 11,756,952 

 

The above contractual maturities reflect the gross cash flows, which may differ to the carrying values of the 

liabilities at the balance sheet date. 
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)  

27.4. Liquidity risk analysis (continued) 

 

Company 

As at 30 September 2014, the Company’s liabilities have contractual maturities which are summarised below: 

 

 
Less than 1 

month 
Less than 3 

months 
3 to 12 

 months 
Total 

 £ £ £ £ 

Trade and other payables 132,156 - 666,945 799,101 

 
This compares to the maturity of the Company’s financial liabilities in the previous reporting period as follows: 

 

As at 30 September 2013     

 
Less than 1 

month 
Less than 3 

months 
3 to 12 

 months 
Total 

 £ £ £ £ 

Trade and other payables 81,790 - 680,945 762,735 

 
(note: the financial liabilities amount shown above did not include tax liabilities payables) 

 
27.5. Carrying value of financial assets and liabilities 

 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying amounts, as the impact of 

discounting is not significant. The fair values are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on the 

borrowing rate of 10.0%, being the rate attributable to the convertible loan notes. 

 

 

28. CONTROLLING PARTY 

 
Sorbic International is a public listed company which is not controlled by any one party. 

 

 

29. PARENT COMPANY RESULTS 

 
No income statement has been prepared for the parent company as allowed by section 408 of the Companies Act 
2006.  The Company has made a net loss of £909,577 for the period ended 30 September 2014 (2013: Loss 
£6,858,064). 
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30. CONTINGENT LIABILITY 

 
The Company disclosed in its financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2009 that a contingent liability 

of up to £1 million may be due arising from the acquisition of LVST. 

 
In order to resolve the position, a loan of RMB50.8 million (£5.1 million) was made by Wang Yan Ting (“WYT”), a 

director and shareholder in Sorbic International plc and the former owner of LVST to LVST, and a contribution of the 

same amount was made by WYT to Honour Field International Limited (“HF”). These amounts are repayable on 

demand. Since the legal agreements relating to the set off of the above transactions have not been executed at the 

date of statement of financial position, the amounts due to and due from WYT are included in other payables and 

other receivables respectively. 

 
As a result of the arrangements, there is no contingent liability at the date of statement of financial position. 

 
 

31. SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS 

 
As at 30 September 2014, the Company had the following subsidiaries: 

 

Name of Subsidiary 

Date and place of 

establishment 

Percentage of 

equity 

attributable to 

Sorbic 

International Principal activities 

Honour Field International Limited 

(“Honour Field”) 

3 July 2007 

BVI 
100% Holding Company 

Held by Honour Field    

Linyi Van Science and Technique 

Co., Ltd (“LVST”) 

17 July 2001 

PRC 100% 
Production and sale of 

food preservatives 

Held by LVST    

Inner Mongolia Van Science and 

Technique Company Limited 

22 January 2010 

PRC 100% 
Production and sale of 

food preservatives 

 

 
  2014   

 
  2013   

 

Amount due 
from 

subsidiary 

Shares in 
group 

undertakings Total 
 

Amount due 
from 

subsidiary 

Shares in 
group 

undertakings Total 

 
£ £ £ 

 
£ £ £ 

Cost at 1 October 
      

4,822,522        20,983,735      25,806,257  
 

                    -  
      

20,983,735      20,983,735  

Reclassification                     -                         -                      -  
 

      
4,822,522  

                       
-        4,822,522  

Cost at 30 September  
      

4,822,522        20,983,735      25,806,257  
 

      
4,822,522  

      
20,983,735      25,806,257  

        Provision for impairment 
       

Beginning of period                     -      (12,750,000)   (12,750,000) 
 

                    -  
      

(6,500,000)     (6,500,000) 

Charge for the year 
 

                       -                      -  
  

      
(6,250,000)     (6,250,000) 

End of period                     -      (12,750,000)   (12,750,000) 
 

                    -  
    

(12,750,000)   (12,750,000) 

        
Carrying amount 

      
4,822,522        8,233,735      13,056,257  

 

      
4,822,522        8,233,735      13,056,257  
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31. SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS 

 
Investment in subsidiary companies is stated at cost, less provision for diminution in carrying value.  The Board 

conducts annual impairment review of its investment to ensure that the Company’s assets are not carried at 

more than their recoverable amount. Given that the net assets of the Honour Field Group were below the 

investment value in the prior year, the Company made an impairment provision of £6.5 million on its investment 

in Honour Field International Limited to reflect its fair value in accordance with IAS 36.  The recoverable amount 

was derived using a discount rate of 12% on expected future cashflows.   

 

Following the reassessment of the Group’s strategy and the associated impairments disclosed in note 6, in the 

prior year the Company reclassified the loan to Honour Field Group as an investment in subsidiaries to reflect 

the now long-term nature of the balance.. 
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